
 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 
 
Civil Action No._____________ 
 
CENTER FOR NATIVE ECOSYSTEMS,       
CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, and                    
XERCES SOCIETY,     
 
  Plaintiffs,    
        
v.         
          
KEN SALAZAR, Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Interior, and       
ROWAN GOULD, Acting Director of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service,  
     

     
  Defendants. 
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Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief 



I. INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief brought by Plaintiffs, Center for 

Native Ecosystems, Center for Biological Diversity, and the Xerces Society (“Plaintiffs”) 

under the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq. (“ESA”).   The Secretary of the 

Interior Kenneth Salazar and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (collectively “the Service”), 

have violated the ESA by failing to designate adequate critical habitat to ensure the 

conservation and recovery of the endangered Salt Creek tiger beetle (Cicindela nevadica 

lincolniana).  16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(3).  The Salt Creek tiger beetle (“tiger beetle”) is an 

active, ground-dwelling, predatory insect endemic to saline wetlands and streams in eastern 

Lancaster and Saunders Counties, Nebraska.  The tiger beetle was listed as endangered under 

the ESA in October 2005.  The Salt Creek tiger beetle is one of the rarest insects in the world 

and occupies one of the most restricted ranges of any insect in the United States. 

2. Plaintiffs bring this action because the Service failed to designate as critical habitat 

sufficient areas to provide for the conservation and recovery of the tiger beetle, and excluded 

areas that are essential to the conservation and recovery of the species in violation of the 

ESA.  In addition, this complaint alleges that the best scientific data available regarding the 

identification of habitat essential to the conservation and recovery of the tiger beetle was 

ignored.  

3. This action seeks an order declaring that the Secretary and the Service failed to 

designate sufficient critical habitat in 2010 to provide for the conservation of the tiger beetle, 

and compelling the Secretary and the Service to revise the critical habitat designation in a 

manner necessary to conserve the species.  This action arises under and alleges violations 

under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544, and the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 
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U.S.C. §§ 551 et seq. 

 
II.  JURISDICTION  

 
4. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) and (g) 

(action arising under the Endangered Species Act citizen suit provision), 5 U.S.C. § 702 

(judicial review of an agency action), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction).  

5. This Court may grant the relief requested under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 

(declaratory and injunctive relief), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) (ESA), and 5 U.S.C. § 701-706 

(APA).   

6. Pursuant to section 11 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(c), on December 16, 2010, 

the Plaintiffs provided Defendants, Secretary of the Interior Kenneth Salazar and Acting 

Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service, Rowan Gould, written notice of the Plaintiffs’ 

intent to file suit based on the alleged violations in this complaint by certified mail.  More 

than sixty days have passed since the Service was put on notice of these alleged violations.  

7. The Service has not remedied the alleged violations of law described in the Plaintiffs’ 

notice letter.  Therefore, an actual justiciable controversy exists between the parties and the 

requested relief is proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 & 2202 (declaratory and injunctive relief).  

For all claims, Plaintiffs have exhausted the available administrative remedies. 

III. VENUE 

8. Venue is properly vested in this Court pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A), 

because a substantial portion of the violations occur in this district, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e), 

because a substantial part of the events and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims 

occurred in this judicial district.  Lead Plaintiff, Center for Native Ecosystems, is 

incorporated in and has its sole place of business in Denver, Colorado.  The Service’s Region 
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Six Office is in Denver, Colorado.  The challenged critical habitat decision was made and 

approved by the Region Six Office.   

IV.  STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

9. The APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, provides the standard for judicial review of final 

agency action under the ESA.  Under the authority of the APA, a reviewing court must hold 

unlawful and set aside agency action, findings, and conclusions found to be arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law, 5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A).  A reviewing court must also compel agency action unlawfully withheld or 

unreasonably delayed.  5 U.S.C. § 706(1). 

V.  PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff CENTER FOR NATIVE ECOSYSTEMS (“CNE”) is a nonprofit 

environmental organization based in Denver, Colorado, that passionately defends native 

biological diversity.  Since CNE’s inception in 1999, the organization has protected over one 

million acres of key wildlife habitat and bolstered existing protections for wildlife and plants 

on millions more.  CNE works to save endangered species and preserve landscapes and 

critical ecosystems.  It achieves these goals by working with biologists and landowners, 

utilizing GIS technology to help understand complex land-use issues, and monitoring 

government agencies whose actions affect endangered and threatened species.  Its members 

include approximately 500 outdoor enthusiasts, wildlife conservationists, scientists, and 

concerned citizens across the country.  CNE members have an interest in preserving the Salt 

Creek tiger beetle, have visited its habitat, observed and photographed the species, and plan 

on returning to see this tiger beetle in the near future.   
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11. Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY (“CBD”) is a non-profit 

501(c)(3) corporation with offices in Tucson, Arizona and elsewhere in the United States.  

The Center works through science, law and policy to secure a future for all species hovering 

on the brink of extinction.  CBD’s members and staff are actively involved in species and 

habitat protection throughout the United States, including protection of the tiger beetle.  CBD 

has over 320,000 members and online activists throughout the United States and the world.  

CBD’s members and staff include numerous individuals with a broad range of scientific, 

professional, educational, recreational, aesthetic, moral and spiritual interests in the tiger 

beetle.  In addition, CBD’s members and staff continuously enjoy the biological, scientific, 

research, educational, conservational, recreational and aesthetic values of the habitat of the 

tiger beetle.  CBD’s members and staff observe and attempt to observe the tiger beetle 

including in the areas the Service excluded from the critical habitat designation.  CBD’s use 

and enjoyment of the tiger beetle and its habitat are dependent on the existence of healthy 

and sustainable populations of the species in the wild.  CBD brings this action on its own 

behalf and on behalf of its adversely affected members and staff.    

12. Plaintiff the XERCES SOCIETY FOR INVERTEBRATE CONSERVATION   

(“Society”) is a nonprofit organization that protects wildlife through the conservation of 

invertebrates and their habitat.  Established in 1971, the Society is at the forefront of 

invertebrate protection worldwide, harnessing the knowledge of scientists and the enthusiasm 

of citizens to implement conservation programs.  The Society uses advocacy, education, and 

applied research to defend invertebrates.  Over the past three decades, the Society has 

protected endangered species and their habitats, produced ground-breaking publications on 
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insect conservation, trained thousands of farmers and land managers to protect and manage 

habitat, and raised awareness about the invertebrates of forests, prairies, deserts, and oceans. 

13. Since 2003, the Xerces Society has advocated for the conservation of the Salt Creek 

tiger beetle.  The Society initially provided information on the Salt Creek tiger beetle for a 

settlement agreement for the mountain plover which resulted in the tiger beetle’s listing as an 

endangered species in 2005.  Through the Freedom of Information Act, the Xerces Society 

has obtained and reviewed documents pertaining to critical habitat decisions, and provided 

substantial comments on these decisions.  The Xerces Society has engaged its members and 

the general public to urge the Service to provide meaningful protection for the Salt Creek 

tiger beetle.  Members of the Xerces Society have visited Salt Creek tiger beetle habitat and 

observed the tiger beetle and have plans to return in the near future.  The Society has over 

4,000 members, including approximately 30 members in Nebraska, who are interested in and 

advocate for the conservation of invertebrates, including the Salt Creek tiger beetle.  

14. The above described aesthetic, conservation, recreational, scientific, educational, and 

other interests of Plaintiffs’ staff, boards, and members have been, are being, and, unless the 

relief prayed for herein is granted, will continue to be adversely affected and irreparably 

injured by the failure of Defendants to designate sufficient critical habitat for the tiger beetle. 

15. The injuries described above are actual, concrete injuries suffered by Plaintiffs’ staff, 

boards, and members.  These injuries are caused by Defendant’s failure to designate adequate 

critical habitat for the tiger beetle to provide for the conservation and recovery of the species.  

The relief sought herein would redress Plaintiffs’ injuries.  Plaintiffs have no other adequate 

remedy at law. 
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16. Defendant KENNETH SALAZAR is the Secretary of the Interior and the federal 

official in whom the ESA vests final responsibility for making decisions and promulgating 

regulations required by and in accordance with the ESA, including proposed and final critical 

habitat decisions.  He is sued in his official capacity. 

17. Defendant ROWAN GOULD is the Acting Director of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service (“Service”), an agency within the Department of the Interior that has been delegated 

the responsibility of the Secretary of the Interior to propose and designate critical habitat for 

species listed as threatened or endangered under the Endangered Species Act.  He is sued in 

his official capacity. 

VI. STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

18. The purposes of the ESA “are to provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon 

which endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved, [and] to provide 

a program for the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species . . .”  16 

U.S.C. § 1531(b).  To this end, the ESA requires that the Secretary protect such species by 

listing them as either “threatened” or “endangered,” and by designating “critical habitat” for 

each listed threatened or endangered species.  16 U.S.C. § 1533.  

19. “Conserve” and “conservation” as defined in the ESA, “mean to use and the use of all 

methods and procedures needed to bring any endangered species or threatened species to the 

point at which the measures provided pursuant to [the act] are no longer necessary.”  16 

U.S.C. § 1532(3).  

20. A species receives the full range of protections afforded by the ESA only if it is listed 

as endangered or threatened.  The ESA requires the Service to issue regulations listing 

species as endangered or threatened based on one or more of the following five factors:      
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(1) the present or threatened destruction, modification, or curtailment of a species’ habitat or 

range; (2) overutilization for commercial, recreational, scientific, or educational purposes; (3) 

disease and predation; (4) the inadequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms; or (5) other 

natural or manmade factors affecting the species’ continued existence.  16 U.S.C. 

§1533(a)(1).  An endangered species is one “in danger of extinction throughout all or a 

significant portion of its range.”  16 U.S.C. §1532(6).  A threatened species is “likely to 

become an endangered species within the foreseeable future throughout all or a significant 

portion of its range.”  16 U.S.C. §1532(20). 

21. Concurrently with listing a species as endangered or threatened, and “to the 

maximum extent prudent and determinable,” the Service must also designate areas of 

“critical habitat” necessary for the conservation of the species and necessary to promote the 

recovery of the species so that the protections of the ESA are no longer needed.  16 U.S.C. §§ 

1533(a)(3)(A), 1532(5)(A) and (B).  “Critical habitat” is defined in Section 3 of the ESA as:  

 the specific areas within the geographical area occupied by a species, 
at the time it is listed in accordance with the Act, on which are found 
those physical or biological features (I) essential to the conservation of 
the species and (II) that may require special management 
considerations or protection; and (ii) specific areas outside the 
geographical area occupied by a species at the time it was listed, upon 
a determination that such areas are essential for the conservation of the 
species.  

 
16 U.S.C. §1532(5)(A)(i). 
 
22. The ESA requires the Service to make critical habitat designations “on the basis of 

the best scientific and commercial data available.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(1)(A).  An area may 

be excluded from critical habitat if the Service “determines that the benefits of such 

exclusion outweigh the benefits of specifying such area as part of the critical habitat, unless 

[the Service] determines, based on the best scientific and commercial data available, that the 
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failure to designate such area as critical habitat will result in the extinction of the species 

concerned.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(2). 

23. The ESA implementing regulations lay out the process for designating critical habitat: 

In determining what areas are critical habitat, the Secretary shall 
consider those physical and biological features that are essential to the 
conservation of a given species and that may require special 
management considerations or protection. Such requirements include, 
but are not limited to the following: (1) Space for individual and 
population growth, and for normal behavior; (2) Food, water, air, light, 
minerals, or other nutritional or physiological requirements; (3) Cover 
or shelter; (4) Sites for breeding, reproduction, rearing of offspring, 
germination, or seed dispersal; and generally; (5) Habitats that are 
protected from disturbance or are representative of the historic 
geographical and ecological distributions of a species. 
 

50 CFR  424.12 (b).  The regulation further directs the Secretary to “focus on the principal 

biological or physical constituent elements within the defined area that are essential to the 

conservation of the species.”  Id.  Known primary constituent elements (“PCEs”) must be 

listed with the critical habitat designation rule.  Id.   

24. Designated critical habitat is protected from destruction and adverse modification 

pursuant to Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).   

25. Section 4(f) of the ESA requires the Secretary develop and implement recovery plans 

for the conservation and recovery of threatened and endangered species.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(f).  

To date, the Secretary has failed to produce a recovery plan for the tiger beetle in violation of 

the ESA. 

VII.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

26. The tiger beetle is an active, ground-dwelling, predatory insect endemic to the saline 

wetlands and streams of eastern Lancaster and Saunders Counties, Nebraska.  Over 90 

percent of the endangered Salt Creek tiger beetle’s salt marsh habitat has been destroyed or 
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severely degraded.  Threats to tiger beetle habitat include stream channelization and bank 

armoring, wetland draining and filling for development, excessive freshwater input into 

saline streams and wetlands, and overgrazing.   The Salt Creek tiger beetle is one of the rarest 

insects in the world and occupies one of the most restricted ranges of any insect in the United 

States.  In 2008, only 165 adult Salt Creek tiger beetles were detected during surveys.   

27. On May 4, 2005, working with the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Lower 

South Platte Natural Resource District, and University of Nebraska-Lincoln biologists, 

entomologists and wetland ecologists, the Nebraska field office of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service developed an “Advanced Concept Paper” (“ACP”) that identified 36,906 acres 

(14,935 ha), comprising ten recovery units, as necessary for the recovery of the tiger beetle 

and that should be designated as critical habitat.  The ACP also concluded that at least six 

populations of a minimum of 500-1,000 tiger beetles each distributed along at least three 

streams is essential for the conservation of the species.  Three independent peer-reviewers, 

experts in the conservation of rare and ESA listed tiger beetles and other insects, reviewed 

and concurred with the conclusions in the ACP and the recommended designation.   

28. On October 6, 2005, the Service published in the Federal Register the final rule to list 

the Salt Creek tiger beetle as endangered under the ESA.  Endangered and Threatened 

Wildlife and Plants; Determination of Endangered Status for the Salt Creek Tiger Beetle; 

Final Rule, 70 Fed. Reg. 58,335 (October 6, 2005).  In the rule, the Service identified habitat 

destruction as the “greatest threat to the Salt Creek tiger beetle.”  Id. at 58,341.  Despite this 

admission and the recommendations of the ACP, the Service did not designate critical habitat 

at the time of listing.  The Service did announce that critical habitat was prudent and 
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determinable and that the agency was in the process of identifying the physical and biological 

features essential to the conservation of the species.   

29. Ignoring the recommendations of the ACP, officials in the regional office pressured 

the Nebraska field office to reduce this acreage and the field office complied, developing a 

briefing paper in May 2006 recommending 14,334 acres for designation as critical habitat.  In 

so doing, however, members of the Nebraska field office and others who had participated in 

developing the ACP emphasized that 15,000 acres was the bare minimum needed to allow 

the species to avoid extinction and recover.   

30. Over the next four years, the Nebraska field office was repeatedly instructed to reduce 

the recommended critical habitat acreage by the Service’s Region Six and Washington, D.C. 

offices.  The Region Six office explained to the Nebraska field office that “the amount of 

acreage the [field office] was proposing would not get past Julie McDonald [sic].”  At the 

time, Julie MacDonald was the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Fish and Wildlife and Parks at 

the Department of the Interior.  After a series of reductions in the proposed critical habitat, all 

of which were objected to by the Nebraska field office staff as scientifically indefensible, the 

Washington office directed the Nebraska field office to reduce the acreage to no more than 

1,500 acres pursuant to a “verbal policy” to only designate occupied habitat and “minimal” 

acreage.   

31. In December 2007, the Service published a proposed rule to designate 1,795 acres of 

critical habitat for the tiger beetle.  Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; 

Designation of Critical Habitat for the Salt Creek Tiger Beetle; Proposed Rule, 72 Fed. Reg. 

70716 (Dec. 12, 2007).  In April 2009, the Service published a revised proposed rule to 

designate 1,933 acres of critical habitat for the tiger beetle.  Endangered and Threatened 
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Wildlife and Plants; Designation of Critical Habitat for the Salt Creek Tiger Beetle; Revised 

Proposed Rule, 74 Fed. Reg. 19167 (April 28, 2009). 

32. On April 6, 2010, the Service issued the final rule designating critical habitat for the 

tiger beetle.  Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Designation of Critical 

Habitat for the Salt Creek Tiger Beetle; Final Rule, 75 Fed. Reg. 17465 (April 6, 2010).  The 

Service ultimately designated 1,933 acres of critical habitat, a mere 5 percent of the 36,906 

acres originally recommended by the expert scientific panel in the ACP, and less than 13 

percent of the 15,000 acres of critical habitat identified by the Service’s own experts as the 

bare minimum necessary to prevent extinction of the tiger beetle and allow the species to 

recover. 

33. Despite the ACP’s recommendation to designate 10 recovery units for the tiger 

beetle, with at least six populations on at least three streams, the Service’s final critical 

habitat rule designated only four “units” of critical habitat on only two streams.  Though the 

final rule itself identifies the serious risk of a single stochastic event causing extinction of the 

species because the three remaining populations are all located along Little Salt creek, the 

final rule fails to provide for protection against that very threat.  In ignoring the 

recommendations of the ACP, the Service failed to rely on the best available science and did 

not designate adequate critical habitat to provide for the conservation and recovery of the 

tiger beetle. 

34. In addition to significantly reducing the amount of critical habitat, the Region Six and 

Washington offices also redefined the PCEs for the Salt Creek tiger beetle, deleting portions 

of the PCE definitions provided by the expert scientific panel in the ACP.  The original PCEs 

included “moist barren salt flats, sustained through complex interactions between saline soils, 
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evaporation, and encompassing protective zones, required for thermoregulation, foraging, 

and reproduction” and “sustained natural surface and groundwater hydrologic regimes 

required to hydrate salt flats and stream banks to meet reproductive and physiological 

requirements, and reduce competition for prey and parasitism.”  The corresponding PCEs in 

the final rule removed all reference to protective zones and references to natural surface and 

groundwater hydrologic regimes.  See 75 Fed. Reg. 17,473.  In redefining the PCEs, the 

Service ignored the best available science which resulted in a designation that fails to include 

areas essential to the conservation of the tiger beetle, including the mixed freshwater and 

saline wetland complexes on which the tiger beetle depends, migratory corridors, and a 

sufficient number of populations on a sufficient number of streams to guard against 

catastrophic anthropogenic and stochastic events. 

35. In addition to narrowing the definition of the PCEs for the tiger beetle without 

explanation, the Service violated its own regulations implementing the ESA by defining the 

PCEs using ephemeral landmarks.  Service regulations dictate: “[e]phemeral reference points 

(e.g., trees, sand bars) shall not be used in defining critical habitat.”  50 CFR § 424.12(c).  

The Service’s PCEs in the final critical habitat rule are defined as “moist, barren salt flats.”  

Barren salt flats are by nature ephemeral, and shift year to year based on water levels and 

other factors.   

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Failure to include essential habitat in critical habitat designation)  
 

36. Each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1 through 35 is incorporated herein 

by reference. 
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37. In designating critical habitat for the tiger beetle in the Final Critical Habitat Rule, the 

Service failed to use the best available scientific data, as required by section 4(b)(2) of the 

ESA, resulting in a critical habitat designation that is inconsistent with the ESA. 

38. The Final Critical Habitat Rule defined habitat “essential to the conservation” of the 

tiger beetle in a manner that is inconsistent with the ESA and with the best available 

scientific data. 

39. The Final Critical Habitat Rule failed to include essential habitat with significant 

recovery value contrary to the best available scientific data, and contrary to the Service’s 

statutory and regulatory obligation to designate critical habitat necessary to conserve and 

recover the tiger beetle. 

40. The Final Critical Habitat Rule excluded unoccupied areas essential to the 

conservation of the species. 

41. The Final Critical Habitat Rule fails to provide for an adequate number of tiger beetle 

populations on an adequate number of streams to provide for the conservation and recovery 

of the species.   

42. The Final Critical Habitat Rule defined the PCEs for the tiger beetle in a manner 

inconsistent with the best available science and in violation of the ESA and the Service’s 

own implementing regulations.  16 U.S.C. § 1532(5)(A)(i)(I) and 50 C.F.R. § 424.12(b).   

43. The Service failed to rely on the best available scientific data in promulgating the 

Final Critical Habitat Rule. 

44. Accordingly, the Service failed to issue a legally sufficient critical habitat designation 

for the tiger beetle, in violation of the ESA.  16 U.S.C. §1533(a)(3)(A). 
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45. For each of the above reasons, and others, the Service failed to perform its non-

discretionary duties as required by the ESA, and has acted in a manner that is arbitrary, 

capricious, and not in accordance with law.  16 U.S.C. §1540(g); 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

Plaintiffs respectfully request the following relief:  
 
1. A declaration that for each of the above stated reasons, defendants violated Section 4 

of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1533, and the APA by failing to include in the tiger beetle’s critical 

habitat designation sufficient habitat to provide for the species’ conservation and recovery;  

2. An order requiring the Service to immediately revisit the critical habitat designation 

for the tiger beetle in order to evaluate the need to designate additional habitat consistent 

with the ESA and this Court’s order, and requiring publication of a revised critical habitat 

rule by a date certain; 

3. An order keeping the current critical habitat designation in place pending 

promulgation of a revised critical habitat rule. 

4. Retain jurisdiction to ensure compliance with the terms of the Court’s order on 

remand; 

5. An award of Plaintiffs’ costs, expenses, expert witness fees, and reasonable attorney 

fees under applicable law; and 

6. Such further relief as may be just, proper, and equitable. 
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Dated: February 23, 2011.    Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 

___/s/ Matthew Sandler______ 
 

Of Counsel:      Matthew Sandler   
Eric R. Glitzenstein     CO Bar No. 37921 
D.C. Bar No. 358287     Center for Native Ecosystems 
Meyer Glitzenstein & Crystal    1536 Wynkoop St. Suite 303 
1601 Connecticut Ave. N.W.    Denver, CO 80202 
Suite 700      Telephone: 303.546.0214 ext. 1   
Washington, D.C. 20009    E-mail: matt@nativeecosystems.org 

 
Bethany Cotton  
OR Bar No. 090960 
Center for Biological Diversity 
1601 Connecticut Ave., N.W., Suite 700 
Washington, D.C. 20009 
Telephone: 202.591.5215 
Email: bcotton@biologicaldiversity.org 

        

      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


